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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements as 

set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the financial 

statements.` 

 

(a) Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue is derived substantially from banking business and related activities and 

comprises net interest income and non-interest income. Income is recognised on an 

accrual basis in the period in which it accrues. 

 

(i) Interest income and expense 

 

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the profit or loss for all interest 

bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 

 

Income from loans and advances to customers, placements with other banks and 

Investments in government securities is recognised in profit or loss using the 

effective interest rate method. The 'effective interest rate' is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 

the financial instrument to: 

 

– The gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 

– The amortised cost of the financial liability 

 

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than 

purchased or originated credit-impaired assets, the Bank estimates future cash 

flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not the 

expected credit loss (ECL). For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 

assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future 

cash flows including ECL. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(a) Revenue recognition (continued) 
 

(i) Interest income and expense - continued 
 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees 

and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 

Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 
 

Amortised cost and gross carrying amount 
 

The 'amortised cost' of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset 

is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus 

the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest rate method of any 

difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial 

assets, adjusted for any ECL. 

 

The 'gross carrying amount of a financial asset' is the amortised cost of a financial 

asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance. 

 

Calculation of interest income 

 

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on 

initial recognition of a financial asset or financial liability. In calculating interest 

income, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the 

asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or the amortised cost of the liability. 

The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash 

flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest. 

 

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, purchased 

originated credit impaired (POCI) assets, interest income is calculated by 

applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 

asset. The calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if 

the credit risk of the asset improves. 
 

For financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 

recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to 

the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, 

then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. 
 

(ii) Fees and commission income 

 

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest 

rate on a financial asset or financial liability are included in the effective interest 

rate. 

 

Other fee and commission income - including account servicing fees, investment 

management fees, sales commission, placement fees and syndication fees - is 

recognised as the related services are performed. If a loan commitment is not 

expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment 

fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(a) Revenue recognition (continued) 
 

(ii) Fees and commission income - continued 

 

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the 

Bank's financial statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially 

in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Bank first applies IFRS 9 to 

separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and 

then applies IFRS 15 to the residual. 
 

Other fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, 

which are expensed as the services are received. 
 

(iii) Net trading income 

 

Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and 

liabilities and includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, interest and 

foreign exchange differences. 

 

(iv) Net income from other financial instruments at fair value 
 

Net income from other financial instruments at fair value relates to derivatives 

held for risk management purposes and includes all realised and unrealised fair 

value changes and foreign exchange differences. 
 

(b) Financial instruments 
 

(i) Introduction 
 

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments includes a model for classification and 

measurement of financial assets, a forward-looking 'expected loss' impairment 

model for debt instruments and a substantially reformed approach to hedge 

accounting. 
 

Classification and measurement 
 

From a classification and measurement perspective, the new standard requires all 

financial assets, except equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based 

on a combination of: 
 

(i) the entity's business model for managing the assets (and whether collecting 

cash flows, selling financial assets, or both are integral to the business 

model), and 

(ii) the instruments' contractual cash flow characteristics (whether the contractual 

cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)). 
 

The IFRS 9 measurement categories include: fair value through profit or loss 

(FVTPL), fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and 

amortised cost. IFRS 9 also allows entities to continue to irrevocably designate 

instruments that qualify for amortised cost or FVOCI instruments as FVTPL, if 

doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(i) Introduction - continued 
 

Classification and measurement - continued 
 

Under IFRS 9, the treatment of gains or losses arising from an entity's own 

credit risk relating to liabilities designated at FVTPL and such movements are 

now presented in OCI (instead of P&L) with no subsequent reclassification to 

the income statement, unless an accounting mismatch in profit or loss would 

arise from presentation in OCI, in which case the own credit gains or losses 

continue to presented in P&L. 
 

Impairment 
 

IFRS 9 introduces an expected credit loss (ECL) impairment model. Under 

IFRS 9, the same impairment model is applied to all financial assets, except 

for financial assets classified or designated as at FVTPL, which are not 

subject to impairment assessment. The scope of the IFRS 9 expected credit 

loss impairment model includes amortized cost financial assets, debt 

securities classified as FVOCI, and off-balance sheet loan commitments and 

financial guarantees which were previously provided for under IAS 37, 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (IAS 37). 
 

(ii) Recognition 
 

The Bank initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits and debt securities 

on the date at which they are originated. All other financial assets and 

liabilities (including assets designated at fair value through profit and loss) 

are initially recognised on the trade date at which the Bank becomes a party 

to the contractual provision of the instrument. 
 

A financial asset or liability is initially measured at fair value plus (for an 

item not subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss) 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities (deposits and debt 

securities) are measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest 

method except where the Bank designates liabilities at fair value through 

profit and loss. 
 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities  
 

Classification and measurement 
 

Financial assets - Derivatives and Equity instruments 
 

Under IFRS 9, derivatives and in-scope equity instruments are measured at 

fair value, with changes reflected through the profit and loss account 

(FVTPL). Exceptions can only apply if the derivative is part of a hedge 

accounting programme. 
 

The Bank measures all equity instruments in scope of IFRS 9 at FVTPL. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 
 

Classification and measurement - continued 
 

Financial assets - Debt Instruments 
 

Under IFRS 9, the following primary classification and measurement 

categories exist for financial assets-debt instruments: 
 

▪ Amortized cost; 

▪ Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and 

▪ Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
 

In addition, IFRS 9 provides special designation options for financial assets-

debt instruments that are either measured at 'amortized cost' or 'FVOCI'. An 

entity has an option to designate such instruments at FVTPL only where this 

designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 
 

The following paragraphs explain the classification criteria for the 3 

categories in more detail. 
 

Amortized Cost 
 

A financial asset-debt instrument shall be classified and subsequently 

measured at amortized cost (unless designated under Fair Value Option) only 

if both of the following conditions are met: 
 

(a) Business Model test: the financial asset--debt instrument is held in a 

business which has a business model whose objective is to hold assets in 

order to collect 

(b) contractual cash flows; and 

(c) SPPI test: the contractual terms of the financial asset-debt instrument give 

rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI). 
 

FVOCI 
 

A financial asset shall be classified and measured at FVOCI (unless 

designated FVO) if both of the following conditions are met: 
 

(a) Business Model test: the financial asset is held in a business model whose 

objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 

financial assets: and 

(b) SPPI test: the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 

specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI). 
 

FVTPL 
 

Any financial instrument that does not fall into either of the above categories 

shall be classified and measured at fair value through profit and loss. For 

example, where the asset is not held within a business model whose objective 

is to hold to collect the contractual cash flows or within a business model 

whose objective is to both collect the cash flows and to sell the assets, then 

the asset will be classified as FVTPL. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 

 

Classification and measurement - continued 

 

Financial assets - Debt Instruments - continued 

 

FVTPL - continued 

 

Moreover, any instrument for which the contractual cash flow characteristics 

do not comprise solely payments of principal and interest (that is, they fail the 

SPPI test) must be classified in the FVTPL category. 

 

Business Model Assessment 

 

The Bank's business model is determined at a level that reflects how groups 

of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business 

objective. 

 

The Bank's business model does not depend on management's intentions for 

an individual instrument (i.e., it is not an instrument-by-instrument 

assessment). This assessment is performed at a higher level of aggregation. 

The level of aggregation is at a level which is reviewed by key management 

personnel, enabling them to make strategic decisions for the business. The 

Bank has more than one business model for managing its financial 

instruments. 

 

The assessment of the business model requires judgment based on facts and 

circumstances, considering quantitative factors and qualitative factors. 

 

Financial assets - Debt Instruments 

 

The Bank considers all relevant evidence that is available at the date of the 

assessment. Such relevant evidence includes, but is not limited to: 

(a) How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held 

within that business model are evaluated and reported to the 

Bank’s/Company's key management personnel; 

(b) The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the 

financial assets held within that business model) and, in particular, the 

way in which those risks are managed; and 

(c) How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether 

the compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or on 

the contractual cash flows collected); and 

(d) The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons 

for such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 

(e) Assessment of whether the contractual cash flows re solely payments of 

principal and interest 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 

 

Classification and measurement - continued 
 

Financial assets - Debt Instruments - continued 
 

If an instrument is held in either a hold to collect or a or hold to collect and 

sell business model, then an assessment to determine whether contractual 

cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 

outstanding (SPPI) is required to determine classification. For SPPI, interest 

is defined as consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk 

associated with the principal amount outstanding during a period of time. It can 

also include consideration for other basic lending risks (for example, liquidity 

risk) and costs (for example, administrative costs) associated with holding the 

financial asset for a particular period of time and a profit margin that is 

consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Other contractual features that 

result in cash flows that are not payments of principal and interest result in the 

instrument being measured at FVTPL. 
 

Contractual terms that introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the 

contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, such 

as exposure to changes in equity prices or commodity prices, do not give rise 

to contractual cash flows that meet the SPPI criteria. 
 

The contractual cash flow test must be performed at initial recognition of the 

financial asset and, if applicable, as at the date of any subsequent changes to 

the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial liabilities 
 

For financial liabilities there are two measurement categories: amortized cost 

and fair value through profit and loss (including a fair value option category).  
 

The Bank separates derivatives embedded in financial liabilities where they 

are not closely related to the host contract. 

The Bank designates financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss if 

one of the following exist: 
 

– The liability is managed and performance evaluated on a fair value basis; 

– Electing fair value will eliminate or reduce an accounting mismatch; or 

– The contract contains one or more embedded derivatives 
 

For financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, fair 

value changes are presented as follows: 
 

– The amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is 

attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability must be recorded 

in OCI, and 

– The remaining amount of the change in the fair value of the liability is 

recorded in P&L. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 
 

Financial liabilities - continued 
 

Upon early extinguishment (e.g., liability is repurchased before maturity), 

changes in own credit previously recorded in OCI will not be recycled to 

P&L. The OCI balance is reclassified directly to retained earnings 

 

Reclassifications 

 

Financial asset classification is determined at initial recognition and 

reclassifications are expected to be extremely rare. A financial asset can only 

be reclassified if the business model for managing the financial asset changes. 

 

Reclassification of financial liabilities is not permitted. Reclassification of 

financial instruments designated under FVO or FVOCl is also not permitted. 
 

Modifications Financial assets 
 

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Bank evaluates whether the 

cash flows of the modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows 

are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the 

original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original 

financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair 

value. 
 

When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise 

modified and the renegotiation or modification does not result in the derecognition 

of that financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9, the Bank shall recalculate the 

gross carrying amount of the financial asset and shall recognize a modification gain 

or loss in profit or loss. 
 

As the Bank classifies a financial asset at initial recognition on the basis of the 

contractual terms over the life of the instrument, reclassification on the basis of a 

financial asset ' s contractual cash flows is not permitted, unless the asset is 

sufficiently modified that it is derecognized. 
 

Financial liabilities 
 

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the 

cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new 

financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The 

difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and 

the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Impairment 
 

The IFRS 9 impairment standard applies to any debt instruments measured at 

amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income and also to off 

balance sheet loan commitments and financial guarantees. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 
 

Expected credit loss impairment model 
 

Credit loss allowances will be measured on each reporting date according to a 

three-Stage expected credit loss impairment model under which each financial 

asset is classified in one of the stages below: 
 

— Stage 1 - From initial recognition of a financial asset to the date on which the 

asset has experienced a significant increase in credit risk relative to its initial 

recognition, a loss allowance is recognized equal to the credit losses expected 

to result from defaults expected over the next 12 months. Interest is calculated 

based on the gross carrying amount of the asset. 

— Stage 2 - Following a significant increase in credit risk relative to the risk at 

initial recognition of the financial asset, a loss allowance is recognized equal 

to the full credit losses expected over the remaining life of the asset. Interest 

is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the asset. 

— The credit losses for financial assets in Stage 1 and Stage 2 are measured as 

the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash 

flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 

that the Bank expects to receive). 

— Stage 3 - When a financial asset is considered to be credit-impaired, a loss 

allowance equal to the full lifetime expected credit losses will be recognized. 

Credit losses are measured as the difference between the gross carrying amount 

and the present value of estimated future cash flows. Interest revenue is 

calculated based on the carrying amount of the asset, net of the loss allowance, 

rather than on its gross carrying amount. 
 

Evidence that a financial asset is impaired includes observable data that comes to 

the attention of the Company such as: 
 

— Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 

— A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments; 

— It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganisation; 

— The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of 

financial difficulties; or 

— Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 

estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the 

initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be 

identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including: 

— adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and 

— national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the 

assets in the portfolio. 

 

Loans are written off when there is no realistic probability of recovery. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 
 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 
 

The estimation of an expected credit loss (ECL) is required to be unbiased and 

probability weighted, including information about past events, current conditions 

and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic 

conditions at the reporting date. The estimate also considers the time value of 

money. 

 

The measurement of an ECL is primarily determined by an assessment of the 

financial asset's probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure 

at default (EAD) where the cash shortfalls are discounted to the reporting date. For 

a financial asset in Stage 1, the Bank will utilise a 12-month PD, whereas a financial 

asset within Stage 2 and Stage 3 will utilise a lifetime PD in order to estimate an 

impairment allowance. 

 
Wholesale Classifiably Managed Exposures 

An impairment allowance will be estimated for corporate loans utilising 

sophisticated models depending on the relative size, quality and complexity of 

the portfolios 

 

Staging 

Financial assets can move in both directions through the Stages of the IFRS 9 

impairment model depending on whether the assessment of whether there is a 

significant increase of credit risk since initial recognition or whether the asset is 

credit impaired subsequently changes. 

 

In order to determine the ECL reporting stage for an obligation, the Bank will 

check whether the asset is already impaired (Stage 3) or not (Stage 1 and 2). 

 

Stage 2 will be determined by the existence of a significant credit deterioration 

(or credit improvement) compared with the credit rating at initial recognition. 

Stage 1 assets do not have significant credit deterioration compared with that at 

initial recognition. All newly acquired or originated financial assets that are not 

purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) are recognized in Stage 1 

initially. 

 

The existence of a (statistically) significant deterioration/improvement is 

combined with the materiality of the probability of default to determine 

whether a transfer in stages is required. Further, the Bank will not rebut the 

presumption that exposures 30 days past due are deemed to have incurred a 

significant increase in credit risk. 

 

Additional qualitative reviews are also be performed to assess the staging 

results and make adjustments, as necessary, to better reflect the positions which 

have significantly increased in risk. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 

 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 
 

Staging 

Changes in the required credit loss allowance, including the impact of 

movements between Stage 1 (12-month expected credit losses) and Stage 2 

(lifetime expected credit losses), are recorded in profit or loss as an adjustment 

of the provision for credit losses. 

 
Expected life 

When measuring ECL, the Bank must consider the maximum contractual 

period over which the Bank is exposed to credit risk, including possible 

drawdowns and the expected maturity of the financial asset. For certain 

revolving credit facilities that do not have a fixed maturity, the expected life is 

estimated based on the period over which the Bank is exposed to credit risk and 

where the credit losses would not be mitigated by management actions. 

 
Stage 3 definition of default 

As mentioned above, to determine whether an instrument should move to a 

lifetime ECL, the change in the risk of a default occurring over the expected 

life of Bank applies a default definition that is consistent with that used for 

internal credit risk management purposes for the relevant financial instrument 

and consider qualitative indicators (for example, financial covenants) when 

appropriate. The definition of default used for this purpose is applied 

consistently to all financial instruments unless information becomes available 

that demonstrates another default definition is more appropriate for a particular 

financial instrument. 

 
Forward looking information and multiple economic scenarios 

Estimates must consider information about past events, current conditions and 

reasonable and supportable forecasts around future events and economic 

conditions. The application of forward-looking information (FLI) requires 

significant judgment. The Bank has developed models that include multiple 

economic scenarios that consider the variability and uncertainty in expected 

losses including factors such as Gross Domestic Product growth rates and 

unemployment rates, provided by the economists in Citi's Global Country Risk 

Management (GCRM). 

 

These estimates are based on portfolio data that reflect the current risk 

attributes of obligors and debt instruments combined with loss projections 

derived from the rating migration, PD and loss models built for estimating 

stress credit losses for wholesale portfolios. As mentioned above, these models 

have incorporated specifically developed components to make the estimates 

compliant with IFRS 9. 

 

 



CITIBANK N.A. 

(KENYA BRANCHES) 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 (CONTINUED) 

 

Page 13 

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 
 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 
 

Forward looking information and multiple economic scenarios - continued 

The PD, LGD and Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) models are calibrated to 

the observed historical patterns of defaults and losses over several years and 

linked to economic drivers. The model reflects different loss likelihood and loss 

severity as a function of different economic forecasts. 
 

The Bank does not use the best case or worst case scenario, but assesses a 

representative number of scenarios (at least 3 when applying a sophisticated 

approach and where multiple scenarios are deemed to have a material non-

linear impact) and probability weights these scenarios to determine the ECL. 
 

Delinquency Managed Exposures 
 

In particular, for Corporate portfolios, where the Bank does not have access to 

detailed historical information and/or loss experience, the Bank will adopt a 

simplified approach using backstops and other qualitative information specific 

to each portfolio.  
 

Other financial assets simplified approaches 
 

For other financial assets, being short term and simple in nature, the Bank will 

apply a simplified measurement approach that may differ from what is 

described above. This approach leverages existing models currently used 

globally for stress testing and regulatory capital reporting purposes, but 

incorporates specifically developed components to make the estimates 

compliant with IFRS 9. 
 

Presentation of the allowance of ECL in the statement of financial position 
 

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as 

follows; 
 

– Financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross 

carrying amount of the asset 

– Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision 

– Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: as the carrying amount of these 

financial assets is at fair value, no loss allowance is recognized in the 

statement of financial position, however, the loss allowance is disclosed in 

note 4(a) and is recognized in the fair value reserve. 
 

Derecognition 
 

The bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 

flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual 

cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any 

interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the bank is 

recognized as a separate asset or liability. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 
 

Derecognition - continued 
 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 

amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 

derecognized) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new 

asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or 

loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or loss. Any 

interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is 

created or retained by the bank is recognized as a separate asset or liability. 
 

The bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized on its 

statement of financial position, but retains either all of the risks and rewards of 

the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and 

rewards are retained, then the transferred assets are not derecognized from the 

statement of financial position. Transfers of assets with retention of all or 

substantially all risks and rewards include, for example, securities lending and 

repurchase transactions. 
 

The bank derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 

discharged or cancelled or expire. 
 

Fair value measurement principles 
 

'Fair value' is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 

a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous 

market to which the bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability 

reflects its non-performance risk. 
 

When available, the bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the 

quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as 

active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient 

frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the bank uses valuation 

techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize 

the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all 

of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a 

transaction. 
 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial 

recognition is normally the transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the 

consideration given or received. If the bank determines that the fair value at 

initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is 

evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or 

liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable 

markets, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, 

adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and 

the transaction price. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iii) Financial assets and financial labilities - continued 
 

Fair value measurement principles - continued 
 

Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate 

basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is 

wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out. 
 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, 

then the bank measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities 

and short positions at an ask price. 
 

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market 

risk and credit risk that are managed by the bank on the basis of the net 

exposure to either market or credit risk are measured on the basis of a price that 

would be received to sell a net long position (or paid to transfer a net short 

position) for a particular risk exposure. Those portfolio-level adjustments are 

allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk 

adjustment of each of the individual instruments in the portfolio. 
 

The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on 

demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required 

to be paid. 
 

The bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of 

the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred. 
 

Statutory credit risk reserve 
 

Where impairment losses required by regulations exceed those computed under 

IFRS, the excess is recognised as a statutory credit risk reserve and is 

accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings. The statutory credit risk 

reserve is non-distributable. 
 

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported on the 

statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set-

off the recognised amount and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, the cash and cash 

equivalents include balances with the Central Bank of Kenya which are available to 

finance the bank's day to day operations, net balances from banking institutions, and 

investments with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 
 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial 

position. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid assets, subject to insignificant risk of 

changes in their fair value and are used by the bank in the management of short-term 

commitments. 
 

(d) Derivative financial instruments 
 

The bank enters into financial instruments for trading purposes with third parties to 

hedge their exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from 

operational, financing and investment activities. 

 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at cost. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. Fair values are 

obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, including recent market 

transactions and valuation techniques. The gain or loss on re-measurement to fair 

value is recognised immediately in the profit and loss. The main derivative financial 

instruments in use by the bank are as follows: 
 

(i) Currency forwards 
 

Foreign exchange forward contracts are agreements to buy and sell a specified 

quantity of foreign currency, usually on a specified future date at an agreed 

rate. 
 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is the present value of the mark to 

market adjustment at the reporting date. 
 

(ii) Currency options 
 

A currency option is an agreement between two counter-parties, giving the 

option buyer (option holder) the right, but not the obligation, either to buy or to 

sell a quantity of currency at a specified rate, on or before a specified date in 

the future. 
 

All currency options concluded with third parties are immediately offset by an 

opposite option transacted with another Citibank affiliate under exactly the 

same parameters (date, notional amount, currency and strike price). The bank 

receives a premium for the transaction. Thus no fair value of outstanding 

options is carried on the bank's statement of financial position. 
 

(e) Transactions in foreign currencies 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are converted into Kenya Shillings 

at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction or valuation where item are 

measured.  
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(e) Transactions in foreign currencies (continued) 
 

Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate 

ruling at the reporting date other than the forwards contracts which are carried at 

prevailing forward rates. Resulting exchange differences are recognised in the profit 

and loss for the year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currency are recorded at the exchange rate ruling at the transaction date. 
 

Translation differences related to non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as 

equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part 

of the fair value gain or loss, while those classified as available for sale are included in 

other comprehensive income. 
 

(f) Employee benefits 
 

(i) Retirement benefit schemes 
 

The majority of the bank's employees are eligible for retirement benefits under 

a defined contribution plan. Contributions to the defined contribution plan are 

charged to the profit or loss as incurred. 
 

The employees and the Bank also contribute to the NSSF, a national retirement 

scheme. Contributions are determined by local statutes and the Bank's 

contributions are charged to the profit or loss in the year to which they relate. 
 

(ii) Share based payments 
 

Certain categories of senior management are awarded ordinary shares in 

Citigroup Inc. (the ultimate holding company) based on their performance. The 

shares vest over a period of four years. The stock awards are recognised in the 

profit or loss on the award date at the market value of the shares on the award 

date. As the awards are categorised as equity-settled, no adjustment is made for 

fair value changes until the settlement date. The expense is recognised in profit 

or loss as it vests, with a corresponding entry to the equity compensation 

reserve. 
 

(iii) Short term benefits 
 

Short term employee benefits obligations are measured on an undiscounted 

basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is 

recognised for the amount expensed to be paid under short term cash bonus. 
 

(iv) Termination benefits 
 

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the bank is 

demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a 

formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal 

retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made 

to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary 

redundancies are recognised as an expense if the bank has made an offer 

encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be 

accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(g) Taxation 
 

Income tax expense comprises current tax and change in deferred tax. Current tax is 

the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 

using tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable or 

recoverable in respect of the previous year. 

 

The amount of current tax payable or recoverable is the best estimate of the tax 

amount that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes if any. 
 

Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, 

except differences relating to the initial recognition of assets or liabilities which 

affect neither accounting nor taxable profit. 

 

Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates currently enacted. A deferred 

tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 

will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred assets are reviewed 

at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 

the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 

(h) Property and equipment 

 

Items of buildings, equipment, furniture and fittings and motor vehicles are stated at 

cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is charged 

on the assets on a straight-line basis to allocate the cost to their residual values over 

useful lives estimated as follows: 

Buildings       Over the period of the lease 

Computer equipment and computer software  20% to 331/3% per annum. 

Furniture and equipment     10% to 20% per annum. 

Motor vehicles      25% to 29% per annum. 
 

The residual values of the assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

reporting date. Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are 

determined by reference to their carrying amount and are recognised in the profit or 

loss in the year in which they arise. 
 

(i) Intangible assets 
 

The costs incurred to acquire and bring to use specific computer software licences 

are capitalised. The costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected 

useful lives, from the date it is available for use, not exceeding three years. 
 

Computer development costs that are directly associated with the production of 

identifiable and unique software products that will probably generate economic 

benefits in excess of its costs are capitalised. The costs are amortised on a straight-

line basis over the expected useful lives, from the date that it is available for use, not 

exceeding three years. 

 

Costs associated with maintaining software are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(j) Leases 
 

At inception of a lease contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains a 

lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the 

use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for considerable. After 1 

January 2019 under International (IFRS 16) accounting principles require that a 

lessee records a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for both operating and 

financing leases. The lease liability is measured at the present value of the future 

lease payments. 
 

(i) As a lessee 
 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease 

component, the Bank allocates consideration in the contract to each lease 

component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price. However, for leases of 

branches and office premises the Bank has elected not to separate non-lease 

components and accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a single 

lease component. 
 

The Bank recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 

commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which 

comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 

payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 

costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove any 

improvements made to branches or office premises. 
 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line 

method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term. In addition, 

the right-of use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 

adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease 

payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the 

interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, 

the Bank's incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Bank uses its 

incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 
 

The Bank determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing its 

borrowings from various external sources and makes certain adjustments to 

reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the 

following: 
 

– fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

– variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially 

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date; 

– amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

– the exercise price under a purchase option that the Bank is reasonably 

certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the 

Bank is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties 

for early termination of a lease unless the Bank is reasonably certain not to 

terminate early. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(j) Leases (continued) 

 

(i) As a lessee - continued 

 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments 

arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Bank's 

estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 

guarantee, if the Bank changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 

purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance 

fixed lease payment. 

 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment 

is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit 

or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to 

zero. 

 

The Bank presents right-of-use assets in 'property and equipment' and lease 

liabilities in 'other liabilities' in the statement of financial position. 
 

(ii) As a lessor 
 

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, 

the Bank allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on 

the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices. 

When the Bank acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the 

lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. 
 

To classify each lease, the Bank makes an overall assessment of whether the 

lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 

of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if 

not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Bank considers 

certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the 

economic life of the asset. 
 

The Bank applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 16 

to the net investment in the lease (see Note 27). The Bank further regularly 

reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross 

investment in the lease. 
 

(k) Contingent liabilities 
 

Letters of credit, acceptances, guarantees and performance bonds are accounted for as 

off-balance sheet transactions and disclosed as contingent liabilities. Estimates of the 

outcome and the financial effect of contingent liabilities is made by management 

based on the information available up to the date the financial statements are approved 

for issue by management. Any expected loss is charged to the profit or loss. 
 

(l) Related parties 

In the normal course of business the Bank has entered into transactions with related 

parties. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(m) Provisions 
 

A provision is recognized in the statement of financial position when the Bank has a 

present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the 

amount can be estimated reliably. 
 

(n) Impairment for non-financial assets 
 

The carrying amounts of the Bank's non-financial assets, other than deferred tax 

assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 

indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the assets' recoverable 

amount is estimated. 
 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-

generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the 

smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are 

independent from other assets and groups. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value 

in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. 
 

(o) Comparative information 
 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been restated to conform with changes in 

presentation in the current year. 

 

(p) Assigned capital 

 

Assigned capital arises from capital injections by the Parent Company and os classified 

as equity. 
 

(q) New standards, amendments and interpretations 
 

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted 

during the year 
 

The Bank has adopted the following new standards and amendments during the 

year ended 31 December 2021, including consequential amendments to other 

standards with the date of initial application by the Bank being 1 January 2021. 

The nature and effects of the changes are as explained here in. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

New amendments or interpretation Effective date 

▪ Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to 

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7) 
1 January 2021 

▪ COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions 

(Amendments to IFRS 16) 1 June 2020 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(q) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 
                                   

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted 

during the year (continued) 

 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 

7) 

 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 have now been issued to address 

uncertainties related to the ongoing reform of interbank offered rates (IBOR). 

The amendments provide targeted relief for financial instruments qualifying for 

hedge accounting in the lead up to IBOR reform.   

 

The amendments address issues affecting financial reporting in the period 

leading up to IBOR reform, are mandatory and apply to all hedging 

relationships directly affected by uncertainties related to IBOR reform. 

 

Consequential amendments were made by the Phase 2 Amendments to IFRS 7, to 

enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate 

benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management 

strategy. As a result, entities should disclose information about: 

 

⎯ The nature and extent of risks to which the entity is exposed arising from 

financial instruments subject to interest rate benchmark reform, and how the 

entity manages those risks  

⎯ Their progress in completing the transition to alternative benchmark rates, and 

how the entity is managing that transition 

 

To meet these two objectives the following qualitative and quantitative information 

must be disclosed: 

 

⎯ How the entity is managing the transition to alternative benchmark rates, its 

progress at the reporting date and the risks to which it is exposed arising from 

financial instruments because of the transition  

⎯ Disaggregated by significant interest rate benchmark subject to interest rate 

benchmark reform, quantitative information about financial instruments that 

have yet to transition to an alternative benchmark rate as at the end of the 

reporting period, showing separately: 

– Non-derivative financial assets  

– Non-derivative financial liabilities  

– Derivatives 

⎯ If the risks described in the first objective above have resulted in changes to 

an entity’s risk management strategy, a description of those changes. 

 

The Bank has initially adopted Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 

(Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16) from 1 January 

2021.  

 

The Phase 2 amendments provide practical relief from certain requirements in 

IFRS Standards. These reliefs relate to modifications of financial instruments and 

lease contracts or hedging relationships triggered by a replacement of a benchmark 

interest rate in a contract with a new alternative benchmark rate. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(q)     New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 
 

                   (i)    New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted 

during the year (continued) 

 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 

7) 

 

If the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or 

financial liability measured at amortised cost changed as a result of interest rate 

benchmark reform, then the Group updated the effective interest rate of the 

financial asset or financial liability to reflect the change that is required by the 

reform. A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required 

by interest rate benchmark reform if the following conditions are met: 
 

⎯ the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform; and  

⎯ the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically 

equivalent to the previous basis; 
 

When changes were made to a financial asset or financial liability in addition to 

changes to the basis for determining the contractual cash flows required by interest 

rate benchmark reform, the Bank first updated the effective interest rate of the 

financial asset or financial liability to reflect the change that is required by interest 

rate benchmark reform. After that, the Bank applied the policies on accounting for 

modifications to the additional changes. 
 

Managing interest rate benchmark reform and associated risks 
 

For decades, LIBOR and other rates or indices deemed to be benchmarks have 

been widely used across financial products and markets globally. These 

benchmarks have been the subject of ongoing national and international regulatory 

scrutiny and reform, resulting in regulators generally expecting or requiring banks, 

including Citi, to cease entering into new contracts that reference USD LIBOR as a 

benchmark by December 31, 2021. The LIBOR administrator ceased publication 

of non-USD LIBOR and one week and two-month USD LIBOR on a 

representative basis on December 31, 2021, with plans to cease publication of all 

other USD LIBOR tenors on June 30, 2023. As a result, Citi ceased entering into 

new contracts referencing USD LIBOR as of January 1, 2022, other than for 

limited purposes as permitted by regulatory guidance and Citi has been in 

compliance with this expectation. 

 

LIBOR and other benchmarks have been used in a substantial number of the 

Bank’s outstanding [securities and products, including, among others, derivatives, 

corporate loans, commercial and residential mortgages, credit cards, securitized 

products and other structured securities. Despite ongoing actions to prepare for the 

transition away from LIBOR, market participants, including Citi, may not be 

adequately prepared for the uncertainties associated with these benchmarks’ 

discontinuance or, as necessary, be able to successfully modify their outstanding 

contracts or products which reference these benchmarks. For example, the 

transition away from and discontinuance of LIBOR or any other benchmark rate 

presents various uncertainties, operational, legal, reputational or compliance, 

financial and other risks and challenges to holders of these contracts and products 

as well as financial markets and institutions, including Citi.  
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(q)     New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 
 

(i)   New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted 

during the year (continued) 

 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 

7) 

 

These include, among others, the pricing, liquidity, value of, return on and market 

for financial instruments and contracts that reference LIBOR or any other 

benchmark rate. 

 

Citi recognizes that a transition away from and discontinuance of LIBOR, also the 

replacement of some interbank offered rates (IBORs) presents various risks and 

challenges that could significantly impact financial markets and market 

participants, including Citi. Accordingly, Citi has continued its efforts to identify 

and manage its interest rate benchmark reform risks. For example, Citi continues to 

closely monitor legislative, regulatory and other developments related to interest 

rate benchmark reform matters and legislative relief. The International Swaps and 

Derivatives Association (ISDA) published Interbank Offered Rate (IBOR) 

Fallbacks Protocol for existing IBOR derivatives transactions, which became 

effective in January 2021, that provides derivatives market participants with new 

fallbacks for legacy and new derivatives contracts if both counterparties adhere to 

the Fallbacks Protocol or engage in bilateral amendments. In addition, Citi has 

established a LIBOR governance and implementation program focused on 

identifying and addressing the impact of LIBOR transition on Citi’s clients, 

operational capabilities and financial contracts.  

 

The program operates globally across Citi’s businesses and functions and includes 

active involvement of senior management, oversight by Citi’s Asset & Liability 

Committee and reporting to the Risk Management Committee of Citigroup’s Board 

of Directors. As part of the program, Citi has continued to implement its LIBOR 

transition action plans and associated roadmaps under the following key 

workstreams: program management; transition strategy and risk management; 

customer management, including internal communications and training, 

legal/contract management and product management; financial exposures and risk 

management; regulatory and industry engagement; operations and technology; and 

finance, risk, tax and treasury. During 2021, Citi continued to participate in a 

number of working groups formed by global regulators, including the Alternative 

Reference Rates Committee (ARRC) convened by the Federal Reserve Board.  

 

These working groups promote and advance development of alternative reference 

rates and seek to identify and address potential challenges from any transition to 

such rates. Citi’s action plans and associated roadmaps are intended to be 

consistent with the timelines recommended by these working groups. This includes 

the Commodity Futures Trading Commission’s SOFR First Initiative, which is 

designed to promote derivatives trading in SOFR. Citi also continued to engage 

with regulators, financial accounting bodies and others on interest rate benchmark 

reform matters. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(q)     New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 
 

(i)   New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted 

during the year (continued) 

 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 

7) (continued) 

 

Citi’s interest rate benchmark reform transition efforts include, among other things, 

reducing its overall exposure to LIBOR, increasing Citi’s virtual client 

communication efforts and client transition facilitation, including outreach 

regarding new industry-led protocols and solutions, and using alternative reference 

rates in certain newly issued financial instruments and products. Further, Citi has 

also been investing in its systems and infrastructure, as client activity moves away 

from LIBOR to alternative reference rates. In 2021, Citi has been focused on 

remediating existing LIBOR contracts for which publication ceased on a 

representative basis on December 31, 2021. Substantially all of these contracts 

have been remediated by December 31, 2021, and Citi continues to actively engage 

in and track the remediation of any remaining contracts after December 31, 2021. 

In addition, a significant majority of the notional amount of Citi’s derivatives 

exposures include fallback provisions referencing alternative reference rates as a 

result of adherence to the (IBOR) Fallbacks Protocol. For LIBOR contracts that 

have not yet been remediated, Citi has also been reviewing the effect of relevant 

legislative solutions, which are expected to facilitate the transition to replacement 

rates. The Bank monitors the progress of transition from LIBORs and other IBORs 

to new benchmark rates by reviewing the total amounts of contracts that have yet 

to transition to an alternative benchmark rate. The BanK considers that a contract is 

not yet transitioned to an alternative benchmark rate when interest under the 

contract is indexed to a benchmark rate subject to IBOR reform, even if it includes 

a fallback clause that deals with the cessation of the existing IBOR which would 

deem it remediated for contract management: 

 

LIBOR 

Exposures by 

Benchmark* 

 USD 

Libor  

 EUR 

Libor  

GBP 

Libor EONIA Total 

      
Financial 

Assets** 

           

8,930,384  

           

154,402  - - 

          

9,084,786  

Financial 

Liabilities ***  -   -  - - - 

Derivatives 

Notional ****  -   -  - - - 

 

* By 31 December 2021, the Bank has exposure indexed to be a benchmark that is 

still subject to IBOR reform 
 

**Financial assets include drawn down contract amount of loans, cards, mortgage, 

deposit, repos, etc. 
 

*** Financial liabilities include deposit, repo, notes etc. 

**** Derivative is about notional amount 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(q) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 
 

(ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are 

not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2021 and have not been 

applied in preparing these financial statements. 
 

The Branch does not plan to adopt these standards early and are summarised 

below; 

New standard or amendments  

Effective for annual 

periods beginning 

on or after  

— Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 

(Amendments to IAS 37) 

1 January 2022 

— Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–

2020 

1 January 2022 

— Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before 

Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16) 

1 January 2022 

— Reference to the Conceptual Framework 

(Amendments to IFRS 3) 

1 January 2022 

— IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts  

1 January 2023 

— Classification of liabilities as current or non-

current (Amendments to IAS 1) 

1 January 2023 

— Disclosure of Accounting Policy (Amendments to 

IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 

1 January 2023 

— Definition of Accounting Estimate (Amendments 

to IAS 8) 

1 January 2023 

— Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities 

Arising from a Single Transaction – Amendments 

to IAS 12 Income Taxes 

1 January 2023 

— Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 

and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to 

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 

1 January 2022 

(Optional) 

 

All standards and interpretations will be adopted at their effective date (except 

for those standards and interpretations that are not applicable to the entity). 
 

Apart from the standard below, the new and amended standards are not expected 

to have a significant impact on the Branch’s financial statements. 
 

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single 

Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes  
 

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption to exclude 

transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences – e.g. 

leases. The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2023. For leases, the associated deferred tax asset and liabilities will need 

to be recognised from the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, 

with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings or 

other components of equity at that date.  

 

 



CITIBANK N.A. 

(KENYA BRANCHES) 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 (CONTINUED) 

 

Page 27 

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(q)   New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 
 

(ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for the 

year ended 31 December 2021 – continued  

 

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction – 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes – continued  
 

For all other transactions, the amendments apply to transactions that occur after the beginning 

of the earliest period presented.  

 

The Branch accounts for deferred tax on leases applying the ‘integrally linked’ approach, 

resulting in a similar outcome to the amendments, except that the deferred tax impacts are 

presented net in the statement of financial position. Under the amendments, the Branch will 

recognise a separate deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability. The Branch is currently 

assessing the impact of adopting the standard There will be no impact on retained earnings on 

adoption of the amendments. 

 

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES 

 

This section provides details of the bank's exposure to risk and describes the methods used 

by management to control risk in respect of financial instruments. The most important 

types of financial risk to which the bank is exposed to are credit risk, liquidity risk, 

operational risk and market risk. Market risk includes interest rate risk and currency risk. 

 

Being a branch, the bank does not have a board of directors but a Management Committee 

which has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank's risk 

management framework. 

 

Through its risk management structure, the bank seeks to manage efficiently the core risks; 

credit, liquidity and market risk, which arise directly through the bank's commercial 

activities. In addition compliance, regulatory risk and operational risk are normal 

consequences of any business undertaking. 

 

The Management Committee has established the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), 

Credit Committee (CC), Business Credit Committee (BCC) and the Business Risk and 

Controls Committee (BRCC), which are responsible for developing and monitoring the 

bank's risk management policies in their specified areas. 

 

The bank's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 

by the bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence 

to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 

in market conditions, products and services offered. The bank, through its training and 

management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 

control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 

(a) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk management 
 

Credit risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from an obligor's failure to meet 

the terms of any contract or to otherwise fail to perform as agreed. 

 

The bank has well documented policies and procedures for managing credit risk. The 

policies are based on the principles of: 
 

– Management responsibility Defined credit approval authorities  

– Set standards for risk measurement 

– Consistent approach to origination of credit, documentation and problem 

recognition  

– Portfolio management strategies. 
 

The risk that counterparties might default on their obligations is monitored on an 

ongoing basis. 
 

To manage the level of credit risk, the bank deals with counterparties of good credit 

standing and for which in its assessment the transactions are appropriate and risks 

understood by the counterparty. 
 

The bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the 

amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to 

geographical and industry segments. 
 

Significant increase of credit risk (SICR) 
 

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or 

lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit 

risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what 

constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. Instead management, in assessing 

whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Bank takes into 

account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking 

information. 
 

Stage 3 definition of default 
 

As mentioned above, to determine whether an instrument should move to a lifetime 

ECL, the change in the risk of a default occurring over the expected life of the 

financial instruments must be considered. 
 

The Bank applies a default definition that is consistent with that used for internal 

credit risk management purposes for the relevant financial instrument and consider 

qualitative indicators (for example, financial covenants) when appropriate. The 

definition of default used for this purpose is applied consistently to all financial 

instruments unless information becomes available that demonstrates another default 

definition is more appropriate for a particular financial instrument. 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Credit risk management - continued 

 

 

Credit quality 
 

The following table sets out information about the credit quality and credit risk 

exposure of financial assets measured at amortized cost. Unless specifically indicated 

the amounts represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments, the amounts 

in the table represent the undrawn portion of amounts committed. Loan 

commitments are overdraft facilities. Explanations of the terms 'stage 1', 'stage 2', 

and 'stage 3' is included in this note. 

 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 

 

The COVID-19 pandemic has severely impacted global health, financial markets, 

consumer and business spending, and economic conditions in all of the jurisdictions 

where Citi operates. The extent of the future pandemic impacts remains uncertain but 

may include, among other impacts, disruption of the global supply chain, higher 

inflation or interest rates, financial market volatility, increase in credit costs for Citi, 

and public health impacts.  The pandemic may continue to have negative impacts on 

Citi’s businesses and overall results of operations and financial condition. 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Credit risk management - continued 

 

Credit quality - continued 
 

Risk classification March 2022 

12 month  

ECL 

Lifetime ECL not 

credit impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit  

impaired 

Purchased 

credit 

impaired 

Total             31 

March 2022 

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Loans and advances to customers at 

amortised cost 

     

Stage 1  52,650,461   -     -     -    52,650,461  

Stage 2   -     1,189,078   -     -     1,189,078  

Stage 3  -     -    1,040,612  -     1,040,612 

 

Gross carrying amount 

 52,650,461  1,189,078   1,040,612   -      54,880,151   

 

Risk classification December 2021 

12 month  

ECL 

Lifetime ECL not 

credit impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit  

impaired 

Purchased 

credit 

impaired 

Total             31 

March 2022 

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Loans and advances to customers at 

amortised cost 

     

Stage 1  50,306,352   -     -     -    50,306,352  

Stage 2   -     2,248,154   -     -     2,438,153  

Stage 3  -     -    1,020,393  -     1,020,393 

 

Gross carrying amount 

 50,306,352  2,248,154   1,020,393   -      53,764,898   
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Credit risk management - continued 

 

Credit quality – continued 

 
 

 

March 

2022 

FVOCI 

Securities 

KShs ‘000 

Cash and 

balances with 

Central Bank of 

Kenya 

KShs ‘000 

Derivative 

Instruments 

KShs ‘000 

Other 

assets 

KShs ‘000 

Balances due 

from foreign 

banks 

KShs ‘000 

Placement 

with other 

banks 

KShs ‘000 

Off balance 

sheet items 

   
 

    

Stage 1 42,010,838 11,189,237 55,331 1,195,143 20,387,688 2,200,596 15,999,064 

Stage 2 - - - - - - 25,031 

Stage 3 - - - - - - 310,875 

Gross Carrying total 42,010,838 11,189,237 55,331 1,195,143 20,387,688 2,200,596 16,334,970 

 

 

December  

2021 

FVOCI 

Securities 

Cash and balances 

with Central Bank of 

Kenya 

Derivative 

Instruments 

Other 

assets 

Balances due 

from foreign 

banks 

Placement 

with other 

banks 

Off balance 

sheet items 

  KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000  

        

Stage 1 41,380,841 12,021,082 113,724 1,322,981 21,460,651 272 18,130,507 

Stage 2 - - - - - - 124,245 

Stage 3 - - - - - - 383,965 

 

Gross Carrying total 

41,380,841 12,021,082 113,724 1,322,981 21,460,651 272 18,638,717 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Credit risk management - continued 
 

Credit quality - continued 
 

Allowances for impairment 
 

 

The IFRS 9 impairment standard applies to any debt instruments measured at 

amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income and also to off 

balance sheet loan commitments and financial guarantees. 
 

Expected credit loss impairment model 
 

Credit loss allowances will be measured on each reporting date according to a three-

Stage expected credit loss impairment model under which each financial asset is 

classified in one of the stages below: 
 

– Stage 1 - From initial recognition of a financial asset to the date on which the asset 

has experienced a significant increase in credit risk relative to its initial recognition, a 

loss allowance is recognized equal to the credit losses expected to result from 

defaults expected over the next 12 months. Interest is calculated based on the gross 

carrying amount of the asset. 

– Stage 2 - Following a significant increase in credit risk relative to the risk at 

initial recognition of the financial asset, a loss allowance is recognized equal to 

the full credit losses expected over the remaining life of the asset. Interest is 

calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the asset. 

– The credit losses for financial assets in Stage 1 and Stage 2 are measured as the 

present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due 

to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Bank 

expects to receive). 

– Stage 3 - When a financial asset is considered to be credit-impaired, a loss 

allowance equal to the full lifetime expected credit losses will be recognized. 

Credit losses are measured as the difference between the gross carrying amount 

and the present value of estimated future cash flows. Interest revenue is 

calculated based on the carrying amount of the asset, net of the loss allowance, 

rather than on its gross carrying amount. 
 

Evidence that a financial asset is impaired includes observable data that comes to the 

attention of the Bank such as: 
 

– Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 

– A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments; 

– It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganization; 

– The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 

difficulties; or 

– Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future 

cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those 

assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual 

financial assets in the portfolio, including: 
▪ adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and 

▪ national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the 

assets in the portfolio. 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 

 

Loans are written off when there is no realistic probability of recovery. The 

estimation of an expected credit loss (ECL) is required to be unbiased and 

probability weighted, including information about past events, current conditions 

and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at 

the reporting date. The estimate also considers the time value of money. 

 

The measurement of an ECL is primarily determined by an assessment of the 

financial asset's probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure 

at default (EAD) where the cash shortfalls are discounted to the reporting date. For a 

financial asset in Stage 1, the Bank will utilize a 12-month PD, whereas a financial 

asset within Stage 2 and Stage 3 will utilize a lifetime PD in order to estimate an 

impairment allowance. 

 

Wholesale classifiably managed exposures 

 

An impairment allowance will be estimated for corporate loans utilizing 

sophisticated models depending on the relative size, quality and complexity of the 

portfolios. 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 

 

Amount of loss allowance arising from ECL 

 

The bank exposure to credit risk is analysed as follows: 

  31-Mar-2022 31-Dec-2021 

 

 

Amounts in KShs 

 

 

 

12 month 

ECL  

(Stage 1)  

KShs '000 

 

Lifetime 

ECL not 

credit 

impaired  

(Stage 2)  

KShs '000 

 

 

Lifetime ECL 

credit 

impaired 

(Stage 3)  

KShs '000 

 

 

 

 

 

Total  

KShs '000 

 

 

 

12 month 

ECL  

(Stage 1) 

KShs '000 

 

Lifetime 

ECL not 

credit 

impaired 

(Stage 2)  

KShs '000 

 

Lifetime 

ECL 

credit 

impaired 

(Stage 3) 

KShs '000 

 

 

 

 

 

Total  

KShs '000 

Loss allowance-Loans and advances at 

amortized cost 
        

Loss allowance as at 1 January  36,943   7,490   689,343   733,776   27,957   111,220   724,103   863,280  

Transfer to 12 months ECL (Stage 1) 43,121 (43,121) -    - 96,865 (96,865) -    - 

Transfer to Lifetime ECL not credit impaired 

(Stage 2)  (10,804) 10,804 -  -   (64,583) 64,583 -  -  

Transfer to Lifetime ECL credit impaired  

(Stage 3) - - - - - - - - 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (29,236) 28,816   32,370  31,950  (23,296) (71,448)   (34,760)  (129,504)  

New financial assets originated or purchased - - - - - - - - 

Changes in models/risk parameters - - - - - - - - 

Foreign exchange and other movements - - - - - - - - 

Financial assets derecognized - - - - - - - - 

Write off  - - - - - - - - 

Recoveries from write off - - - - - - - - 

Loss allowance as at 31 March  40,025   3,989   721,713   765,726  36,943   7,490   689,343   733,776 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 
 

Amount of loss allowance arising from ECL - continued 

 2022: FVOCI Securities 

Cash and balances 

with Central Bank of 

Kenya 

Derivative 

instruments Other assets 

Balances due 

from foreign 

banks 

Placement 

with other 

banks 

Off balance 

sheet items 

  KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 

        

Stage 1 42,010,838 11,189,237 55,331 1,195,143 20,387,688 2,200,596 15,999,064 

Stage 2 - - - - - - 25,031 

Stage 3 - - - - - - 310,875 

        

Gross carrying total 42,010,838 11,189,237 55,331 1,195,143 20,387,688 2,200,596 16,334,970 

        

loss allowance (153,076)   -     -     -     -     -     (108,904) 

        

Net carrying total 41,857,762 11,189,237 55,331 1,195,143 20,387,688 2,200,596 16,226,066 

 

2021:        

         

Stage 1  41,380,841 12,021,082 113,724 1,322,981 21,460,651  272    18,130,507 

Stage 2  -     -     -     -     -     -    124,245 

Stage 3  -     -     -     -     -     -    383,965 

        

Gross carrying total  41,380,841 12,021,082 113,724 1,322,981 21,460,651  272    18,638,717 

        

loss allowance (52,104)   -     -     -     -     -     (104,060) 

        

Net carrying total  41,328,737 12,021,082 113,724 1,322,981 21,460,651  272    18,534,657 

 

The bank held Government securities worth KShs is NIL (2021 - KShs 179,050,000) as collateral against some of its loans and advances. 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Write-off policy 

 

The bank writes off a loan / security balance (and any related allowances for 

impairment losses) when the bank determines that the loans / securities are 

uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the 

occurrence of significant changes in the borrower financial position such that the 

borrower can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not 

be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. 

 

Derivatives 

 

The credit risk arising from derivatives is managed as part of the overall lending 

limits to banks and customers. The amount of credit risk is the current positive fair 

value of the underlying contract together with potential exposures from future market 

movements. The Group further limits its exposures to credit losses in the event of 

default by entering into master netting agreements with certain market counterparties. 

Exposures are not presented net in the financial statements as in the ordinary course of 

business they are not intended to be settled net. 

 

Where appropriate, derivatives are used to reduce credit risks in the portfolio. Due to 

their potential impact on income volatility, derivatives are only used in a controlled 

manner and within a pre-defined volatility expectation 

 

(b) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 

from its financial liabilities. The bank's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, 

as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 

when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable 

losses or risking damage to the bank's reputation. 

 

Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the bank's activities and in the 

management of positions. It includes both the risk of being unable to fund assets at 

appropriate maturities and rates and the risk of being unable to liquidate an asset at a 

reasonable price and in an appropriate timeframe. 

 

ALCO is responsible for ensuring that the bank manages its liquidity risk and is able 

to meet all its obligations to make payments as and when they fall due. It also has 

primary responsibility for compliance with regulations and bank policy and 

maintaining a liquidity crisis contingency plan. 

The bank maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, largely made up of short-

term liquid investment securities, loans and advances to banks and other inter-bank 

facilities, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained with daily liquidity 

positions being monitored. 

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets 

and liabilities is fundamental to the management of liquidity risk. 
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable 

cost, interest bearing liabilities as they mature are important factors in assessing 

the liquidity of the bank and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange 

rates. 

 

A substantial portion of the bank's assets are funded by customer deposits made up 

of current and savings accounts and other deposits. These customer deposits, 

which are widely diversified by type and maturity, represent a stable source of 

funds. Lending is normally funded by liabilities in the same currency. 

 

The bank also maintains significant levels of marketable securities either for 

compliance with statutory requirements or as prudential investments of surplus 

funds. 

 

A key measure of liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to deposit liabilities. 

The Central Bank of Kenya requires banks to maintain a statutory minimum ratio 

of 20% of liquid assets to all its deposit liabilities. 

 

For this purpose, liquid assets comprise cash and balances with Central Bank of 

Kenya, net balances with financial institutions, treasury bonds and bills and net 

balances with banks abroad. 

 

Deposit liabilities comprise deposits from customers, other liabilities that have 

matured or maturing within 91 days. 

 The liquidity ratios at the reporting date and during the reporting period (based on 

month end ratios) were as follows: 

 2022   2021 

   

At 31st March/31st Dec 64,9% 65.8% 

Average for the period 63.1% 69.3% 

Highest for the period 65.3% 79.4% 

Lowest for the period 59.1% 60.0% 
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities: 
 

31 March 2022        

On  Demand 

Due within 3 

months 

Due between 3 and 12 

months 

Due between 1 and 5 

years 

Due after 5 

years Total 

 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Financial liabilities 
      

Deposits from banks 1,420,220 -     1,479,095 - - 2,899,315 

Derivative instruments - - - - - - 

Due to customers 91,657,999 - 2,450,956 10,039,163 - 104,148,118 

Other liabilities 1,246,267 384,778 - - - 1,631,045 

 

 

94,324,486 384,778 3,930,051 10,039,163 - 108,678,478 

 

31 December 2021       

 

On  

Demand 

Due within 3 

months 

Due between 3 and 12 

months 

Due between 1 and 5 

years 

Due after 5 

years Total 

 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Financial liabilities       
Deposits from banks 4,880,916 2,800,000     667,785 - - 8,348,701 

Derivative instruments 43,312 - - - - 43,312 

Due to customers 94,300,158 133,850 2,096,783 1,899,007 - 98,429,798 

Other liabilities 1,361,296 221,189 -- -- - 1,582,485 

       

  

100,585,682 3,155,039 2,764,568 1,899,007 -  108,404,296 

 

Customer deposits up to three months represent current and call deposit account balances, which past experience has shown to be stable and of 

a long-term nature.  
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

 
 

(c) Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate and 

foreign exchange rates will affect the Bank's income or the value of its holdings of 

financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 

control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the 

return on risk. 

 

The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market 

interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest rate risk is managed 

principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having pre-approved limits 

for repricing bands. 

 

The Bank is also exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign 

currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Currency risk is 

managed principally through limits set on the level of exposure by currency and in 

total for both overnight and intra-day positions which are monitored daily. 

 

Overall responsibility for market risk is vested in ALCO. 

 

 

(i) Interest rate risk 

 

The Bank is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of 

fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial 

position and cash flows. The table below summarizes the exposure to interest 

rate risks. Included in the table are the Bank's assets and liabilities at carrying 

amounts, categorized by the earlier of contractual reprising or maturity dates. 

 



CITIBANK N.A. 

(KENYA BRANCHES) 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 (CONTINUED) 

 

Page 40 

 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(i) Interest rate risk - continued 
 

The Bank is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its 

financial position and cash flows. The table below summarises the exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the Bank’s 

assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
  

Effective 

interest rate 

Within 3 

months 

Between 3  and 

12 months 

Between 1 

and 5 years 

Non interest 

bearing 
Total 

31 March 2022 % KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000  
      

Cash and balances with Central Bank -  -   -     -       11,189,237       11,189,237    

Other Assets    1,170,095   
   

   1,170,095    

FVOCI Securities 11.90%   7,431,607     26,264,046     8,315,185    -      42,010,838    

Due from foreign branches 1.28%   20,387,688    -     -     -    20,387,688    

Due from other banks -   2,200,596      -     -     -    2,200,595     

Derivative instruments - -  -   -     55,331       55,331    

Loans and advances to customers (net) 8.01%   36,635,169   7,129,584     10,349,672     -    54,114,425 

       

Total financial assets 
 

67,825,155   33,393,630  18,664,857 11,244,568  131,128,210 

       

Financial liabilities and equity 
 

     
Deposits from banking institutions 4.45% 1,420,220 -  1,479,095 - 2,899,315 

Derivative instruments - - - - - 0 

Customer deposits 3.51% 91,657,998 - 2,450,956 10,039,163 104,148,117 

Other Liabilities 
 

1,246,267 384,778 - -  1,631,045 

       

Total financial liabilities 
 

94,324,485 384,778 3,930,051 10,039,163 108,678,477 

       

Interest rate sensitivity gap         

(26,499,330) 

          

33,008,852    

        

14,734,806    

         

1,205,405    

         

22,449,733          
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

(i) Interest rate risk - continued  
Effective 

interest rate 

Within 3 

months 

Between 3  and 

12 months 

Between 1 

and 5 years 

Non interest 

bearing 
Total 

31 December 2021 % KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000  
      

Cash and balances with Central Bank - 11,163,695 - - 857,388 12,021,083 

Other Assets       
  

1,143,604    1,143,604    

FVOCI Securities 11.57%   25,421,794     9,348,895     6,610,152    -      41,380,841    

Due from foreign branches 1.28%   21,460,651    -     -     -    21,460,651    

Due from other banks -   272      -     -     -    272     

Derivative instruments - -  -   -     113,724       113,724    

Loans and advances to customers (net) 7.99%   36,260,824   8,101,081     8,669,217     -    53,031,122 

       

Total financial assets 
 

94,307,236   17449,976  15,279,369 2,144,716 129,151,297 

       

Financial liabilities and equity 
 

     
Deposits from banking institutions 5.21% 7,680,917  667,784  - - 8,348,701 

Derivative instruments - - - - 43,312 43,312 

Customer deposits 3.73% 94,434,008 2,096,782 1,899,007 - 98,429,798 

Other Liabilities 
 

1,360,903 221,188 - -  1,582,091 

       

Total financial liabilities 
 

103,475,828 2,985,755 1,899,007 43,312 108,403,902 

       

Interest rate sensitivity gap         

(9,168,592) 

          

14,464,221    

        

13,380,362    

         

2,071,404    

         

20,747,395   
       

Sensitivity analysis interest rate risk 

The sensitivity analysis on the accrual book is measured by the change in DV0l (Dollar value of 01) that measures the change in value of 

the accrual portfolio due to a 1 basis point parallel move in the interest rates. At 31 March 2022, a 1 basis point parallel increase in the 

interest rates with all other variables held constant would have resulted to a pre-tax loss movement of KShs (1,349,782) (December 2021 - 

KShs 389,359). 
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

 

(ii) Currency rate risk 
 

 

The Bank operates wholly within Kenya and its assets and liabilities are carried in the local currency.  The various foreign currencies to 

which the Bank is exposed at 31 March 2022 are summarised below: 

 
 

31-Mar-22  USD   GBP   EURO   JPY   Others   TOTAL  

Financial assets  KShs '000   KShs '000   KShs '000   KShs '000   KShs '000   KShs '000  

Balance sheet items 
      

Cash and balances with banks abroad       21,344,710         188,361       3,322,373           24,379            75,310         24,955,133  

Loans and advances       22,466,626         122,161         827,629         133,661                  23         23,550,100  

Other foreign assets         3,425,470                 75           65,915                 -                    -             3,491,460  

Off balance sheet items 
      

Undelivered spot purchases                  780                 -                   -                   -                1,470                  2,250  

Forward purchases         1,386,003                 -           140,955         114,274                  -             1,641,232  

Total financial foreign assets     48,623,589       310,597    4,356,872       272,314           76,803         53,640,175  

       

Financial liabilities 
      

Balance Sheet Items 
      

Deposits       41,912,403         265,173       4,139,534           46,320            36,142         46,399,572  

Balances due to banks abroad                    -             44,558                 -                   -                2,109                46,667  

Other Foreign Liabilities         3,405,961                 -             67,553                 -                1,038           3,474,552  

Foreign Loans and Advances                8,695                 -                   -                   -                    -                    8,695  

Inter-Company/Group Balances                    -                   -                   -                   -                    -                          -    

Off Balance Sheet Items 
      

Undelivered Spot Sales             38,524                 -                 773                 -                1,485                40,782  

Forward Sales         4,230,067                 -           140,955         230,070                  -             4,601,092  

Total Foreign liabilities     49,595,650       309,731    4,348,815       276,390           40,774         54,571,360  

Net Open Position        (972,061)             866           8,057          (4,076)          36,029            (931,185) 

Long/(short)position        (972,061)             866           8,057          (4,076)          36,029            (931,185) 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

(i) Currency rate risk (continued) 

 
31 December 2021 USD GBP EURO JPY Others Total  

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Financial assets       

       

Balance sheet items       

Cash and balances with banks abroad 19,888,553   541,014   3,570,991 208,458   148,752 24,357,768 

Loans and advances   26,313,693  -    957,992 158,625 1 27,430,311 

Other foreign assets   3,868,331   2,134   11,100  -    -       3,881,565 

       Off balance sheet items       
Undelivered spot purchases   460,669   -    -      9,831 2,679   473,179 

Forward purchases   8,155,406  -    51,481   34,208 75,051 8,316,146 

       

Total financial foreign assets   58,686,652   543,148 4,591,564   411,122 226,483   64,458,969        
Financial liabilities       
       

Balance sheet items       
Deposits 49,364,300   341,337 4,520,504   279,570 39,662   54,545,373 

Balances due to banks abroad  -     -     -     -    6,502   6,502 

Other foreign liabilities 3,870,158  -      13,493  -      1,275 3,884,926 

Foreign loans and advances    9,213  -     -     -     -    9,213 

Inter-company/group balances  -     -     -     -     -     -    

       Off Balance sheet items      - 

Undelivered spot sales 113,682 -     -   4,915      -   118,597 

Forward sales 5,394,469 182,939   51,481   124,775 76,343 5,830,007 

       

Total foreign liabilities 58,751,822 524,276 4,585,478 409,260 123,782 64,394,618 

Net open position (65,170)   18,872   6,086   1,862 102,701 64,351 

Long/(short)position (65,170) 18,872 6,086 1,862 102,701 64,351 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity analysis foreign currency exchange risk  

 

The bank’s assets and liabilities held in foreign currency are bound to be affected by the 

fluctuations in the foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis on the foreign currency 

position is measured by the trading DV01 that measures the change in value of the position 

as a result of a 1 percentage point shift (appreciation) in exchange rates. The trading DV01 

for the USD and the EUR positions that constitute the significant portion of the statement 

of financial position is as follows: 
  

   2022 2021 

   KShs'000 KShs'000 

     

USD        (97,206) (6,517) 

EUR              806    609   

GBP                87      1,887 

JPY            (408) 186 
 

The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year: 

 

   Closing Average 

   2022 2021 2022 2021 

   KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 

GBP     150.91 152.95 152.49 150.80 

JPY    94.40 98.21 97.78 98.36 

EUR    127.05 128.28 127.53 127.83 

USD     114.90 113.05 113.74 111.88 

  

(d) Operational risk 

 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 

people and systems or from external events. It includes reputation and franchise risk 

associated with the Bank’s business practices or market conduct; and the risk of failing to 

comply with applicable laws and regulations. 

 

The Bank seeks to ensure that key operational risks are managed in a timely and effective 

manner through a framework of policies, procedures and tools to identify, assess, monitor, 

control and report such risks. 

 

Compliance with operational risk policies and procedures is the responsibility of all 

business managers. The Business Risk and Controls Committee (BRCC) has the overall 

responsibility for ensuring that an appropriate and robust risk management framework is in 

place to monitor and manage operational risk. 

 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address 

operational risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. This is 

supported by the Manager’s Control Assessment process that assess the effectiveness of 

controls over the risks identified. 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

 

(e) Capital management  

 

The Central Bank of Kenya sets and monitors capital requirements for all banks.  

 

The objective of the Central Bank of Kenya is to ensure that a bank maintains a level of 

capital which: 

 

— is adequate to protect its depositors and creditors;  

— is commensurate with the risks associated with its activities and profile  

— promotes public confidence in the bank. 

 

In implementing current capital requirements, the Central Bank of Kenya requires banks to 

maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets.  

 

Capital adequacy and use of regulatory capital are monitored regularly by management 

employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee, as 

implemented by the Central Bank of Kenya for supervisory purposes. 

 

The Central Bank of Kenya requires a bank to maintain at all times: 

 

— a core capital of not less than 8% of total risk weighted assets, plus risk weighted off -

balance sheet items 

— a core capital of not less than 8% of its total deposit liabilities 

— a total capital of not less than 12% of its total risk weighted assets, plus risk weighted 

off-balance sheet items 

— A capital conservation buffer of 2.5% over and above the above minimum ratios.  

 

This brings the minimum core capital to risk weighted assets and total capital to risk 

weighted assets to 10.5% and 14.5% respectively.  

 

Central Bank of Kenya required the bank to maintain a minimum core capital of Kshs 1 

billion as at 31 December 2021. The bank is already compliant with this requirement.  

 

Capital is segregated into core capital (Tier 1) and supplementary capital (Tier 2). 

 

Core capital includes assigned capital, irredeemable preference shares, share premium and 

retained earnings after deductions for goodwill and intangible assets. 

 

Supplementary capital on the other hand includes 25% of revaluation reserves of property 

and equipment, subordinated debt not exceeding 50% of core capital and any other 

approved reserves. 

 

Risk weighted assets are arrived at using a framework of four weights applied to both on-

balance sheet and off-balance sheet items to reflect the relative risk of each asset and 

counterparty. 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

 

(e) Capital management (continued) 

 

The Bank’s regulatory capital position at 31 March was as follows: 

  

2022 2021  

KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 

Core capital (Tier 1)   
Assigned  capital               4,582,975          4,582,975  

Retained earnings             14,044,624        13,634,546  

Less deferred tax asset                (378,203)          (329,346)  
          18,249,396      17,888,175  

Supplementary capital (Tier 2)   
Statutory reserve                 623,212             658,037  

Total capital           18,872,608      18,546,212   

  
Risk weighted assets                                                         
On-balance sheet             59,925,365        59,384,891  

Off-balance sheet             32,469,525        19,493,981  

Market Risk qualifying Assets                         -                       -    

Total Market Risk Weighted Assets               6,969,181          2,746,787  

Operational Risk Equivalent Assets             17,122,478        17,097,258  

Total risk weighted assets         116,486,549      98,722,917   

  
Deposits from customers         107,047,433    104,280,578   

  
Capital ratios 2022 2021  

  
Core capital/total deposit liabilities (CBK minimum 8%) 17.0% 17.1% 

Core capital /total risk weighted assets (CBK minimum 10.5%) 15.7% 18.1% 

Total capital /total risk weighted assets (CBK minimum 14.5%) 16.2% 18.8% 
 

 
 

5 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  

The estimates and assumptions are based on the managements best knowledge of current events, 

actions, historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about the carrying 

values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may 

differ from these estimates. 
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5 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the period which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 

current and future periods. 

 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation and critical judgments in applying 

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 

statements is set out below: 

 

Impairment of financial assets  

 

Judgement is made on classification of financial assets assessment of the business model 

within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the 

financial assets are Solely for Payment of Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the principal 

amount outstanding. 

 

Judgement is made in establishing the criterion for determining whether credit risk on 

the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, determining 

methodology for incorporating forward-looking information into measurement of 

Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) and selection and approvals of models used to measure 

ECL. 

 

Assets accounted for at amortized cost and fair value through other comprehensive 

income are evaluated for impairment on a basis described Note 3(b). 

 

The Bank recognizes loss allowance at an amount equal to either 12-month expected 

credit losses (ECLs) or lifetime ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all 

possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument, whereas 12-

month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible 

within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

 

For credit exposures where there have not been significant increases in credit risk since 

initial recognition, the Bank provides for 12-month ECLs. These are classified as Stage 1 

assets. 

 

For credit exposures where there have been significant increases in credit risk since 

initial recognition on an individual or collective basis, a loss allowance is required for 

lifetime ECLs. These are classified as Stage 2 assets. 
 

For credit exposures that are credit impaired and in default, similar to stage 2 assets, a 

loss allowance is required for lifetime ECLs however the probability of default for these 

assets is presumed to be 100% less any determined recovery and cure rate. 
 

Business model assessment and assumptions 
 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which 

are dealt with separately above), that the management have made in the process of 

applying the Bank's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the  
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5 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 
 

(a) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 

Business model assessment and assumptions - continued 

 

Judgement is made on classification of financial assets assessment of the business model 

within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the 

financial assets are Solely for Payment of Principal and Interest (SPPT) on the principal 

amount outstanding. 
 

Judgement is made in establishing the criterion for determining whether credit risk on the 

financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, determining 

methodology for incorporating forward-looking information into measurement of 

Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) and selection and approvals of models used to measure 

ECL. 
 

Assets accounted for at amortized cost and fair value through other comprehensive 

income are evaluated for impairment on a basis described Note 3(b). 
 

The Bank recognizes loss allowance at an amount equal to either 12-month expected 

credit losses (ECLs) or lifetime ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all 

possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument, whereas 12-

month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible 

within the 12 months after the reporting date. 
 

For credit exposures where there have not been significant increases in credit risk since 

initial recognition, the Bank provides for 12-month ECLs. These are classified as Stage 1 

assets. 
 

For credit exposures where there have been significant increases in credit risk since 

initial recognition on an individual or collective basis, a loss allowance is required for 

lifetime ECLs. These are classified as Stage 2 assets. 

For credit exposures that are credit impaired and in default, similar to stage 2 assets, a 

loss allowance is required for lifetime ECLs however the probability of default for these 

assets is presumed to be 100% less any determined recovery and cure rate. 
 

Business model assessment 
 

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI 

and the business model test (refer to note 3(b). The Bank determines the business model 

at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a 

particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant 

evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance 

is measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are 

managed and how the managers of the assets are compensated. 
 

The Bank monitors financial assets measured at amortized cost or fair value through 

other comprehensive income that are derecognized prior to their maturity to understand 

the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of 

the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Bank's continuous 

assessment of whether the business model for which the remaining financial assets are 

held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a 

change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets. 
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5 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 
 

(a) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 

Significant increase of credit risk (SICR) 

 

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime 

ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a 

significant increase in credit risk. Instead management, in assessing whether the credit 

risk of an asset has significantly increased the Bank takes into account qualitative and 

quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information. Refer to note 3(b) 

for more details. 

 

Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics  

 

When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on 

the basis of shared risk characteristics. Refer to note 3(b) for details of the characteristics 

considered in this judgement. The monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk 

characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether they continue to be similar. This is 

required in order to ensure that should credit risk characteristics change there is 

appropriate re-segmentation of the assets. This may result in new portfolios being created 

or assets moving to an existing portfolio that better reflects the similar credit risk 

characteristics of that group of assets. Re-segmentation of portfolios and movement 

between portfolios is more common when there is a significant increase in credit risk (or 

when that significant increase reverses) and so assets move from 12-month to lifetime  

 

ECLs, or vice versa, but it can also occur within portfolios that continue to be measured 

on the same basis of 12-month or lifetime ECLs but the amount of ECL changes because 

the credit risk of the portfolios differs. 

 

Models and assumptions used  

 

The Bank uses various models and assumptions in estimating ECL. Judgement is applied in 

identifying the most appropriate model for each type of asset, as well as for determining the 

assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key drivers of credit 

risk. Refer to note 3 (b) for more details on ECL measurement. 

 

(b) Useful life of assets 
 

Property and equipment 
 

Critical estimates are made by management in determining the useful life of property and 

equipment. 

 

(c) Fair value of financial instruments 
 

Where the fair values of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the statement of 

financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety 

of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input to these 

models is taken from observable market data where possible, but where this is not feasible, a 

degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.  
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5 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 

 

(d) Taxation 

 

Judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of 

legislation. There are many transactions and calculations for which ultimate tax determination 

is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Bank recognises liabilities for 

anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where 

the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 

recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made. 

 

The Bank recognises the net future tax benefit that relates to deferred income tax assets to the 

extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the 

foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the 

Bank to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. 

Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the 

application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and 

taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Bank to realise the net 

deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date could be impacted. 

 

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies 

  

Critical accounting judgements made in applying the Branch’s accounting policies include 

financial asset and liability classification. The Branch’s accounting policies provide scope 

for assets and liabilities to be designated on inception into different accounting categories 

in certain circumstances. 

 

In classifying financial assets as held to collect and sell, the Branch has determined that it 

has both positive intention and ability to hold the assets until their maturity date.  
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values 

 

31-Mar-22 FVTPL FVOCI Amortised Cost Others at amortised cost Fair value 
 

KShs‘000 KShs‘000 KShs‘000 KShs‘000 KShs‘000 

Financial assets 
     

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya  -   -          11,189,237   -           11,189,237  

Other assets  -   -           1,170,095   -             1,170,095  

FVOCI Securities  -                 42,010,837   -   -           42,010,837  

Derivative financial instruments        55,331   -   -   -                 55,331  

Placements with other banks  -   -           2,200,596   -             2,200,596  

Balances due from foreign branches  -   -          20,387,688   -           20,387,688  

Loans and advances to customers  -   -          54,114,425   -           54,114,425  
 

      55,331              42,010,837       89,062,041                       -         131,128,209  

Financial liabilities 
     

Deposits from banks  -   -   -             2,899,315             2,899,315  

Deposits from customers  -   -   -         104,148,118         104,148,118  

Derivative financial instruments              -     -   -   -                       -    

Other liabilities-items in transit  -   -   -             1,631,045             1,631,045  
 

             -     -   -      108,678,478       108,678,478  

 
 

 



CITIBANK N.A. 

(KENYA BRANCHES) 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 (CONTINUED) 

 

Page 52 

6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)  

 

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values (continued) 

 

31-Dec-21 FVTPL FVOCI Amortised Cost Others at amortised cost Fair value 

 
KShs‘000 KShs‘000 KShs‘000 KShs‘000 KShs‘000 

Financial assets 
     

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya - -         12,021,082  -          12,021,082  

Other assets - -          1,143,604  -            1,143,604  

FVOCI Securities - 41,380,841  -  -          41,380,841  

Derivative financial instruments 113,724 -  -  -              113,724  

Placements with other banks - -                   272  -                    272  

Balances due from foreign branches - -         21,460,651  -          21,460,651  

Loans and advances to customers - -         53,031,122   -           53,031,122  
 

113,724 41,380,841 87,656,732 0      129,151,297  

Financial liabilities 
     

Deposits from banks - - - 8,348,702            8,348,702  

Deposits from customers - - - 98,429,798          98,429,798  

Derivative financial instruments 43,312 - - -                43,312  

Other liabilities-items in transit - - -            1,582,092             1,582,092  
 

43,312 - - 108,360,592 108,403,904 
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) 

 

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values (continued) 

 

The following sets out the branch’s basis of establishing fair value of the financial 

instruments: 

 

Derivative financial instruments  

 

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value as set out in Note 15. 

 

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 

 

The fair value of cash and bank balances with the Central Bank of Kenya is their 

carrying amount. 

 

Deposits and advances to banks 

 

The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits is their carrying 

amounts.  

 

Loans and advances to customers 

 

Loans and advances to customers are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated 

fair value of loans and advances represents the discounted amount of future cash flows 

expected to be received, including assumptions relating to prepayment rates. Expected 

cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. A substantial 

proportion of loans and advances reprice within 12 months and hence the carrying 

amount is a good proxy of the fair value.   
 

FVOCI Instruments 
 

FVOCI securities with observable market prices are fair valued using that information. 

The fair value is determined by discounting the securities using prevailing market rates. 
 

Deposits from banks and customers 
 

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity is the amount repayable on 

demand. The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits without quoted 

market prices is based on discounting cash flows using the prevailing market. 
 

A substantial proportion of deposits are within 6 months and hence the carrying amount 

is a good proxy of the fair value. 
 

(b) Valuation hierarchy 
 

The valuation hierarchy, and types of instruments classified into each level within that 

hierarchy, is set out below: 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Fair value 

determined 

using: 

Unadjusted quoted 

prices in an active 

market for identical 

assets and liabilities 

Valuation models with 

directly or indirectly 

market observable 

inputs 

Valuation models using 

significant non-market 

observable inputs 
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) 

 

(b) Valuation hierarchy (continued) 

 

The table below shows the classification of financial instruments held at fair value into 

the valuation hierarchy set out below as at 31 March 2022: 

 

 

31-Mar-22 KShs‘000 KShs‘000 KShs‘000 KShs‘000 

Assets 
    

FVOCI Securities -          42,010,838   -         42,010,838  

Derivative financial instruments -                55,331   -                55,331  

Total assets -        42,066,169   -         42,066,169  
     

Liabilities 
    

Derivative financial instruments -                       -     -                        -    

Total liabilities -                       -     -                        -    
     

31-Dec-21 
    

Assets 
    

FVOCI Securities - 41,380,841 - 41,380,841 

Derivative financial instruments - 113,724 - 113,724 

Total assets - 41,494,565 - 41,494,565 
     

Liabilities 
    

Derivative financial instruments - 43,312 - 43,312 

Total liabilities - 43,312 - 43,312 

 

 

7         RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

(a) Transactions with other Citibank branches and subsidiaries 

 

In the normal course of business, transactions are entered into with other branches and 

subsidiaries of Citibank N.A, the parent company. During the year, the bank had 

recoveries expenses/amounting to KShs 87,054,235 (2021 - KShs 474,697,306) to other 

Citibank branches and subsidiaries. These transactions were carried out at arm's length. 
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7 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 

 

(b) Key Management personnel Transaction  

 

The Bank has entered into transactions with its employees: 
  

2022 2021  
KShs '000 KShs '000 

   

Staff loans to Key management 80,244 76,424 

  

Interest earned on loans to key management for the period ended 31 March 2022 

amounted to KShs 1,215,324 (2021 - KShs 4,961,809).  

 

Interest rates charged on balances outstanding from employees are determined by the 

Senior Human Resource Committee and are granted at a discounted market interest 

rate. The mortgages and secured loans granted are secured over property and other 

assets of the respective borrowers.  

 

No impairment losses have been recorded against balances outstanding during the 

period with key management personnel, and no specific allowance has been made for 

impairment losses on balances with key management personnel at the reporting date. 

 

(c) Key management compensation 

 

Compensation of the Bank’s key management personnel includes salaries, bonuses, 

non-cash benefits and contributions for retirement benefits under a defined contribution 

plan. Some bank officers also participate in the Group’s share option program. 

 

 2022 2021 

 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 

   

Short-term employee benefits;                     96,281                 488,308  

Other long-term benefits;                  6,511                   25,189  

Share-based payment.                    -                     -  

   

 102,792 513,497 

  

8.          PARENT COMPANY 

 

The Bank is a branch of Citibank N.A, a national banking association formed under the laws 

of the United States of America. The ultimate holding company/ parent is Citigroup, Inc., 

which is publicly listed on the NYSE. 

 

9.          EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 

          There were no significant events after the reporting date. 


